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1
Abdus 

Salam Sikdar

A leader of 

youth wing of 

Bangladesh 

Nationalist 

Party (BNP) 

and Cloth 

trader 

Adabor, 

Dhaka
0 1 1

A leader of youth wing of BNP named Abdus Salam Sikdar was allegedly picked up by men claiming to be 

members of the Detective Branch (DB) of police from his house located at Adabor, Dhaka. His wife Lovely Begum 

said that her husband is a businessman and also involved in politics. On 9 January in the afternoon, five 

plainclothes men claiming to be members of the DB Police entered their house. Of them, one had a pistol in his 

hand. They woke up Abdus Salam and told him that he was keeping weapons. They searched the house and after 

failing to find any weapons, they tied Salam‟s hands and blindfolded him with scarves and kicked him with their 

boots. Neighbours rushed to the spot but the men  took away Salam. She further stated that they went to Adabor 

Police Station on 10 January 2018 in the morning but the police denied the arrest of Salam. Police said her to go to 

the DB Head Office at Minto road. Later the family went to the DB Head Office but they were not allowed to enter 

and the DB Police refused to say anything about this matter. Later she went to Mohammadpur Police Station and 

wanted to file a GD but police did not record the GD saying that if members of DB police picked up him then they 

could not record the GD. As a result, she could not record a GD at Mohammadpur Police Station. On 17 January 

2018, Mohammad Saiful Islam, Superintendent of Police in Barisal at a press conference stated that Abdus Salam 

Sikdar was arrested from Dhaka on 9 January 2018, over allegations of shooting and beating Awami League 

leaders Syed Sultan Mir and Bimol Chandra Saha on 11 December 2017, in Niamoti Bazar of Moheshpur Union 

under Bakerganj Police Station in Barisal District. Later on 11 January, police produced him before the court and 

sought 10-day remand, but the court granted a three-day remand.

1 9/1/2018 9/1/2018

The daily Naya 

Diganta, 11/01/2018 

http://www.dailynayadig

anta.com/detail/news/2

83984

Bangla Tribune, 

17/01/2018 

www.banglatribune.co

m/country/news/28372

7/

2

Khaled 

Hassan 

Motin

Owner of 

Lakehead 

Grammar 

School 

Gulshan, 

Dhaka
1 1

On 13 January 2018 at around 4:00 pm, seven to eight men in plainclothes refused to identify themselves picked 

up the owner of Lakehead Grammar School, Khaled Hassan Motin from his office at Gulshan in Dhaka. They took 

him in a microbus. School Committee staff Idris Ali filed a general diary (GD) with the Gulshan Police Station 

stating that some unidentified people took away Khaled Hassan Motin on a vehicle from in front of the Lakehead 

Grammar School in Gulshan. Motin was unreachable on his mobile phone since the vehicle had left, Idris said in 

the GD. Later after a week, the Detective Branch (DB) of Police on 21 January showed him as arrested.

1

A General 

Diary (GD) filed 

with Gulshan 

Police Station 

13/01/2018 21/01/2018

The Independent, 

22/1/2018, 

http://www.theindepend

entbd.com/post/13384

3,  The daily Dhaka 

Tribune, 20/01/2018 , 

http://www.dhakatribun

e.com/bangladesh/crim

e/2018/01/20/lakehead

-owner-picked-gulshan/

and The Daily Star, 

22/01/2018, 

https://www.thedailystar

.net/backpage/they-

are-now-custody-

1523206

3

Mohammad 

Motaleb 

Hossain

Personal 

Officer (PO) 

of the 

Minister for 

Education, 

Nurul Islam 

Nahid

Banani, 

Dhaka
1 1 1

Motaleb 

Hossain‟s 

brother 

Mohammad 

Shahabuddin 

Ahmed filed a 

General Diary 

(GD) with 

Hazaribagh 

Police Station.

20/01/2018 21/01/2018

4 Nasiruddin

An employee 

of the 

Ministry of 

Education

Basila, 

Dhaka
1 1 1 18/01/2018 21/01/2018

Date of 

Incident

Date of 

returning/ 

found dead

Source and Date 

According to family members, Motaleb Hossain was picked up by plainclothesmen on 20 January  afternoon from 

the capital's Basila while Nasiruddin went missing from Banani on his way to his office on 18 January 2018.On 20 

January , Motaleb Hossain‟s brother Mohammad Shahabuddin Ahmed filed a General Diary (GD) with Hazaribagh 

Police Station. He mentioned in the GD that his brother was picked up by some men claiming to be members of 

DB Police. On 21 January, Education Minister Nurul Islam Nahid told journalists that whoever picked them up that 

has not been identified as yet. Members of law enforcement agencies have not admitted such arrest. The Joint 

Commissioner of DB Police, Abdul Baten, said that they did not know anything about the men being missing. Until 

21 January evening, law enforcers remained tight-lipped about the reason of their arrest, making the family 

members deeply worried. However, on the night of 21 January, the DB Police informed that Nasiruddin and 

Motaleb were arrested on allegations of taking bribes and corruption.

The Daily Star, 

24/01/2018, 

http://www.thedailystar.

net/frontpage/they-

sold-secret-docs-

lakehead-owner-

1524256 and The daily 

Prothom Alo, 

22/01/2018 

Enforced Disappearances in 2018
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Identity 

Area 

from 

where 
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red
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Allegedly disappeared by

Action Taken
Follow 

up
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 Anisur 

Rahman 

Talukder 

Khokon

BNP central 

committee 

leader 

 Hotel 

Ramna at 

Gulistan, 

Dhaka

1 1

There was an allegation against RAB-3 members for picking up BNP central committee leader Anisur Rahman 

Talukder Khokon from Ramna Hotel at Gulistan, Dhaka. Anisur Rahman Khokon‟s nephew Sarwar Talukder 

informed that in the evening of 29 January 2018, his uncle went to Hotel Ramna at Gulistan to meet BNP leaders 

and activists from his own district, Madaripur. At that time some members of RAB-3, two in RAB uniform, arrested 

his uncle and picked him up in a black microbus. When Khokon‟s family contacted RAB-3 office, they denied his 

arrest. On 30 January 2018, RAB-3 commander Lt. Col. Imranul Hassan said that Khokon was arrested for 

allegedly being involved in destructive acts. It is to be mentioned that earlier on 4 March 2015, a group of 

plainclothes men picked up Khokon from Dhanmondi area in Dhaka. After three months and 12 days police 

showed him as arrested as an accused in a case filed under the Explosives Act with Kotwali Police Station in 

Faridpur.       

1 29/01/2018 30/01/2018

Information gathered 

by HRDs from Sarwar 

Talukder, nephew of 

Anisur Rahman 

Khokon, cell no: 

01711350818 and The 

Daily Star, 30/01/2018, 

http://www.thedailystar.

net/backpage/bnp-

leader-missing-city-

1527256

6

Towhidul 

Islam aged 

38

Petty 

Businessman

Horishonk

or, 

Kushtia

1 1

On 1 February 2018 Towhidul Islam was allegedly killed in a gunfight with police at Kushtia-Jhenaidah highway. 

Officer-in-Charge (OC) of Kushtia Islamic University Mohammad Ratan Sheikh said that a team of police 

conducted the operation after getting secret information that a robbery is going to happen at that place. Police went 

there and a gunfight ensued. Later, Police found the body of Towhidul Islam. However, Towhidul Islam's elder 

brother Shohidul Islam alleged that on 29 January 2018 at around 6:30 pm eight to 10 plainclothes men came to 

Towhidul's house situated at Horishonkor, Kushtia after identifying themselves as members of Detective Branch of 

Police (DB). While the family members communicated with the Officer-in-Charge (OC) Sabbirul Islam, he denied 

the incident of detaining Towhidul Islam.

1 29/01/2018 1/2/2018

Prothom Alo 

02/02/2018, 

Information gathered 

by HRDs from 

Towhidul's brother 

Shahidul Islam, 

contact number: 

01719662383

7
Mohammad 

Shamsuddin

President of 

3 no. ward of 

Chandraganj 

union unit of 

BNP of 

Lokkhipur 

and a Cloth 

trader

In front of 

Jhumur 

Cinema 

Hall, 

Lakshmip

ur

1 1

On 14 February 2018, Chandraganj Union ward unit BNP President Mohammad Shamsuddin, of Lakshimipur 

Sadar Upazila, was picked up by some men claiming to be members of law enforcement agency, in front of 

Jhumur Cinema Hall, while he was returning home after appearing in the court. On 16 February, his wife Fatema 

made this allegation through a press conference in Lakshmipur. However, law enforcement agencies claimed that 

Shamsuddin was not with them. On 15 February, a General Diary (GD numbered 689) was filed in this regard with 

Lakshipur Police Station.  After the press conference at around 9:00 pm, Shamsuddin was dropped from a 

microbus in Begumganj in Noakhali District. At that time he was blindfolded. When Shamsuddin was asked who 

picked him up, where he was taken and how he was treated, he refrained from giving information.

1

On 15 

February, a 

General Diary 

(GD) was filed 

in this regard 

with Lakshipur 

Police Station

14/02/2018 16/2/18
Bangladesh Protidin 

17/02/2018

8

Sajal 

Chowdhury 

aged 47

Businessman

Basundha

ra 

Residentia

l area, 

Dhaka

1 1

Sajal's mother Delwara Begum informed that at around 7:30 to 8:00 pm on 11 March 2018 they were getting 

preparation to shift the house from Bashundhara to Uttara. At that moment, security guard of the house informed 

them that the truck came for carrying things. Meanwhile, around 15-16 plainclothes men entered the house. They 

identified themselves as members of the DB police. After entering they started to beat up Sajal. At that time Sajal 

screamed out to save him. Later he was handcuffed and they took him away with two microbuses. After the 

incident, the mother immediately went to Bhatara Police Station but the police did not take the GD. They told her to 

go to the office of DB and RAB. Delwara went to the head office of DB at Minto Road but she was not allowed to 

enter into the office. She also went to the the RAB-1 office but they did not give any response. On 13 March 2018 

Sub-Inspector (SI) Shahin Mohammad Amanullah came to the house and took away Sajal's cell phone. On 18 

March 2018 he was freed in the Raipur Bazaar area of Daudkandi of Comilla in the early morning. At around 10:30 

am he reached his home at Dhaka. He said that he was tortured.

1 11/3/2018 18/03/2018

Prothom Alo 

16/03/2018 and 

Prothom Alo 

19/03/2018

9

Nazrul Islam 

Moral aged 

42

 Religious 

Affairs 

Assistant 

Secretary of 

Khulna 

district unit 

BNP

Atalia of 

Dumuriya 

Upazila, 

Khulna

1 1

BNP leader Nazrul Islam Moral was picked up by the members of law enforcement agency from Atalia area of 

Dumuriya Upazila in Khulna. On 17 March 2018 at around 5:00 pm, Nazrul Islam rented a motorcycle and started 

from his house situated at Dumuriya Upazila to visit doctor at Mongolkot area of Jessore. At the evening, local 

people found a motorcycle, a key and a cap at an area of Atalia of Dumuriya Upazila. When communicated with 

the owner of the motorcycle, it is revealed that Nazrul Islam rented the motorcycle. Since then the family members 

called Nazrul over phone but found it switched off. His family also searched in different places but did not find him 

in anywhere. On 17 March 2018 at night Nazrul‟s wife Tanjila filed a GD with Dumuriya Police Station in this regard. 

Tanjila informed that the way he was picked up can only possible by the people of „adminstration‟. She added that 

her husband was picked up for the involvement in politics of BNP. Furthermore, she feared that administration 

disappeared him over enmity with influential locals for contesting the position of Magurghona Union Chairman. He 

has been traced in Ramu of Cox‟s Bazar on 5 April 2018 by police.

1

On 17 March 

2018 at night 

Nazrul‟s wife 

Tanjila filed a 

general diary 

(GD) with 

Dumuriya 

Police Station 

in this regard. 

17/03/2018 5/4/2018

Mrs. Tanzila Begum 

wife of  Nazrul, cell no- 

01736-461016, 

http://www.banglanews

24.com/politics/article/6

7796/ and The daily 

Manabzamin, 

06/04/2018, 

http://www.mzamin.co

m/article.php?mzamin=

112078&
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Shafiqur 

Rahman

Lecturer of 

Political 

Science of 

Dakra 

Degree 

College

1 1 1 24/03/2018 30/03/2018

11 Bajlul Islam

Lecturer of 

English of 

Dakra 

Degree 

College

1 1 1 24/03/2018 24/03/2018

12
Asaduzzama

n aged 22

Shopkeeper 

at a grossary 

shop 'Nazrul 

Enterprise'

Askorpur 

Sarkarpar

a village, 

Charghat, 

Rajshahi

1 1
He was allegedly picked up by a group of people who identified themselves as members of RAB. Still his 

whereabouts are unknown.
1 27/03/2018

The daily Jugantor, 

30/03/2018, and The 

daily poriborton.com, 

30/03/2018, 

http://www.poriborton.c

om/prints/114158

13
Mohammad 

Masud
 Trader 1 1 1

Ayesha Akhter, 

wife of 

Mohammad 

Masud, told 

that she filed a 

GD at 

Chandraganj 

Police Station a 

week after the 

5/4/2018

Masud's wife Ayesha 

Akter- 01795153565, 

http://www.bd-

pratidin.com/last-

page/2018/04/17/3229

26

14 Saiful Islam  Trader 1 1 1 5/4/2018

Saiful Islam's father 

Ismail Kalu- 

01872255483, 

http://www.bd-

pratidin.com/last-

page/2018/04/17/3229

15
Foysal 

Ahmed Sajal

Vice 

President of 

central 

committee of 

student wing 

of BNP 

Not 

reported
1 1

From 22 May 2018, Foysal Ahmed was traceless as claimed by the family members and BNP‟s Senior Joint 

Secretary General Ruhul Kabir Rizvi in a press conference. Ruhul Kabir Rizvi alleged that he was picked up by law 

enforcement agencies as suspected by his colleagues. On 23 May 2018 the family members of Sajal went to 

Khilgaon Police Station for filing General Diary (GD) but police told them to wait and search him. Later, on 24 May 

2018 at around 7:30 pm Sajal was rescued from the Rampura Bridge.

1

On 23 May 

2018 the family 

members of 

Sajal went to 

Khilgaon Police 

Station for filing 

General Diary 

(GD) but police 

told them to 

wait and search 

him.

22/05/2018 24/05/2018

Bangladesh Protidin 

25/05/2018,http://www.

bd-

pratidin.com/city/2018/

05/25/332806 and 

Amader Shomoy, 

24/05/2018, 

http://dainikamadersho

moy.com/bangladesh/1

39370/

16

Ismail 

Hossain 

Manik

Not reported 

road no.4 

of 

Katasur 

area of 

Mohamm

adpur, 

Dhaka

1 1

Mojnu Molla, Adviser of worker‟s wing of Awami League of Mohammadpur-Adabor Police Station Committee and 

father of disappeared Ismail Hossain Manik alleged that on 4 June 2018 at around 11:00 pm, a group of men in 

plainclothes claiming to be RAB members picked up Ismail Hossain Manik in a microbus from road no.4 of Katasur 

area of Mohammadpur, Dhaka. He also added that, in the wind shield of the microbus a sticker of RAB was seen. 

One Tipu and Saddam from the same locality known as RAB informers were also associated the group. While 

family members communicated with the office of RAB-2, they denied the allegation of detaining Manik. Since then, 

Manik‟s whereabouts is unknown. A GD is filed with Mohammadpur Police Station in this regard on 15 June 2018. 

Jamal Uddin Mir, Officer-in-Charge (OC) of Mohammadpur Police Station said that there were two cases filed 

against Manik. Police is trying to find him out. 

1

A GD is filed 

with 

Mohammadpur 

Police Station 

in this regard 

on 15 June 

2018.

4/6/2018

The daily Naya 

Diganta, 05/07/2018, 

http://www.dailynayadig

anta.com/city/330368/

র্ যাব-পরিচয়ে-তুয়ে and 

Manabkantha, 

05/07/18, 

https://www.manobkant

ha.com/িয্াব-পরিচয়ে-

তুয়ে-নেোি

 Boropole 

area on 

the 

Begumga

nj-Feni 

road

On 5 April 2018, some men claiming to be members of the DB Police stopped a bus at Boropole area on the 

Begumgnj-Feni road which was going to Lakshmipur from Chittagong. Mohammad Masud and Saiful Islam, both 

traders and residents of Lakshmipur were travelling on that bus and the men took them away, as alleged by their 

family. The whereabouts of Mohammad Masud and Saiful Islam are still unknown.  Saiful‟s father Mohammad 

Ismail informed that they went to Begumganj Police Station under Noakhali District and Chandraganj Police Station 

under Lakshmipur District to file a General Diary (GD), but police did not register their GD. Meanwhile, Ayesha 

Akhter, wife of Mohammad Masud, told that she filed a GD at Chandraganj Police Station a week after the incident.

Anupom 

High 

School, 

Charghat, 

Rajshahi 

Two college teachers were allegedly picked up and one was later released allegedly by plain clothes at Charghat in 

Rajshahi on 24 March 2018 morning. The abducted teachers are Bazlul Islam, son of Asmot Ali of Raipur Village 

of the upazila, and Shafiqur Rahman. Bazlul is a Lecturer of English while Shafiqur is that of political science of 

Dakra Degree College. Quoting witnesses, the college principal Abdur Rouf said that some of law enforcing 

agency members blocked the road near Anupom High School and stopped the teachers, who were on their way to 

Charghat by a motorcycle from the college. The law enforcers picked them up in a black car within minutes and 

took them away. Bazlul‟s younger brother Mujahidul Islam told that being informed he went to the place, but did not 

find any of them. „We had tried to contact with him over phone and went to his mess where he was used to reside 

for last several months, but we did not find any trace of them,‟ he added. We informed the police about the 

incidents, who told us that they did not pick up anyone, Mujahidul further added. Rajshahi district detective 

inspector (investigation) Khalid Hossain said that they did not conduct any raid in the area. He said that they were 

informed that Bajlul had come back in the evening but Shafiqur was still missing. RAB-5 Lieutenant Colonel 

Mohammad Mahbubul Alam echoed Khalid Hossain saying that he was not aware of the incident. Bajlul was freed 

alive at around 5:00 pm on the same day at Darushiya area, Ishordi, Rajshahi. However, on 30 March 2018 police 

of Belpukur Police Station arrested Shafiqur Rahman from the Mahendro and Belpukur area while they saw 

Shafiqur roaming in the area. Police took him to the police station and interrogated him. Primarily police found him 

as extremist. Then they informed the matter to Rajshahi Metropolitan Detective Branch of police. They confirmed 

that Shafiqur is involved with extremist group but they could not say which group he belongs to. On 30 March 

Rajshahi Metropolitan Detective Branch of police produced him before the court.

The daily New Age, 

25/03/2018, 

http://www.newagebd.n

et/article/37546/two-

rajshahi-college-

teachers-picked-up-

one-released-later
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Mohammad 

Mohon Mia 

aged 38

Grocery 

Shopkeeper

Mirpur, 

Dhaka
1 1

Family members of Mohammad Mohon Mia alleged that on 10 June at around 10:45 pm, Mohon Mia was picked 

up by a group of plainclothes men from his grocery shop adjacent to his house situated at Road 3, CHA block, 

Mirpur-2 section, Dhaka.  He was picked up in a motorcycle. Later, a RAB infromer communicated with the family 

members and took two lacs Taka for releasing Mohammad Mohon Mia. Family members alleged that one police 

officer named Mohammad Hafizur Rahman of RAB-4 unit met with Mohon's father Jhomsher Ali for three days. He 

provided a letter written by Mohon to Jhomsher. However, still Mohon's whereabouts remain unknown. The family 

members also alleged that they have enmity with one Azizul Haque over land property. Azizul Haque might have 

used law enforcement agency to make disappear Mohon. Mohan was accused in two narcotics cases filed with 

Mirpur and Shah Ali police stations and had been on bail when he was taken. Mohon's wife filed a general diary 

(GD) with Mirpur Model Police Station on 11 June 2018.

1

(GD) with 

Mirpur Model 

Police Station 

on 11 June 

2018.

10/6/2018

The Daily Star, 

27/5/2019, 

https://www.thedailystar

.net/frontpage/news/fat

hers-cry-continues-

vain-1749394

and Prothom Alo 

29/8/2018, 

https://epaper.prothom

alo.com/?pagedate=20

18-8-

29&edcode=71&subco

de=71&mod=1&pgnum

18
Kamruzzama

n Sohag 

Senior Joint 

Covener of 

Gafargaon 

Upazila Unit 

BNP of 

Mymensingh

Residenc

e of 

Kamruzza

man 

Sohag at 

Gafargao

n, 

Mymensin

gh

1 1

Sanjida Sultana, wife of Kamruzzaman Sohag informed that on 27 June 2018 at around 10:00 am Sub-Inspector 

Saiful, Sub-Inspector Ahsan Habib and one Constable of Gafargaon Police Station went to the house of 

Kamruzzaman Sohag and detained him in presence of local people. At that time, Sub-Inspector Saiful told Sanjida 

to come Gafargaon Police Station with papers for bail.  She is told for preparing papers of a case filed against 

Sohag. Later she went to the Police Station at around 11:00 am  and she tried to release him by 10:00 pm. Later, 

at around 12:00 am Police started to deny the arrest of Kamruzzaman Sohag. Later, on 29 June he was produced 

before the Court. 

1 27/06/2018 29/06/2018
Manabzamin 

29/06/2018

19 APM Suhel

Quota reform 

movement 

leader

Chamelib

agh in 

Dhaka

1 1

In the early morning of 12 July, some men claiming to be members of the Detective Branch (DB) of Police picked 

up quota reform movement leader APM Suhel from a house at Chamelibagh in Dhaka. When the family of Suhel 

searched for him, police informed them that DB Police had not arrested him. Later, in the evening, police 

acknowledged the arrest of Suhel.

1 12/7/2018 12/7/2018
The daily Prothom Alo 

14/7/2018

20
Sumon 

Ahmed 
BNP activist 1 1 1 21/07/2018 21/07/2018

The daily Prothom Alo 

22/7/2018

21
Rasel 

Ahmed 
BNP activist 1 1 1 21/07/2018 21/07/2018

The daily Prothom Alo 

22/7/2018

22
Fajal Huq 

aged 60
Not reported 1 1 1 6/7/2018

23

Munnaf 

Hossain 

aged 35

Not reported 1 1 1 6/7/2018

24

Altaf 

Hossain 

Hawlader 

aged 37

Businessman 

 in Khulna

Sharsha, 

Jessore
1 1

Altaf Hossain Hawlader's wife Selina Begum alleged that on 14 August 2018 at around 9:00 pm, five plainclothes 

men identified themselves as RAB picked up her husband from the house at Kazir Ber village, Navaron Police 

Station, Sharsha, Jessore. He was picked up in a private car. On 15 August 2018 Selina Begum went to Sharsha 

Police Station to file a general diary but police officers did not record the GD rather police took written complaint. 

Then they informed the incident to ASP Imran of Navaron circle of Jessore police. He said them to communicate 

with RAB. On 25 and 26 August 2018 family members went to RAB-6 office at Khulna but did not find him. The 

whereabouts of Altaf remains unknown.  Altaf Hossain Hawlader of Kazir Bar Village under Shorsha Upazila in 

Jashore District was freed after 28 days of being disappeared. Altaf confirmed that he is a fishery businessman 

and owner of a Shrimp Fisheries. 

1

 On 15 August 

2018 Selina 

Begum went to 

Sharsha Police 

Station to file a 

general diary 

but police 

officers did not 

record the GD 

rather police 

took written 

complaint.

14/08/2018 11/9/2024

Selina Begum, wife of 

Altaf, cell no- 

01724262644 and 

Manabzamin 

29/08/2018

The daily Naya 

Diganta, 9/08/2018 

Sylhet

On 20 July, two BNP activists Sumon Ahmed and Rasel Ahmed of ward no. 26 had joined the election campaign 

for BNP-nominated candidate Ariful Huq in the Sylhet City Corporation polls. At around 3:30 am on 21 July, some 

plain clothed men, including uniformed police, picked them up from their house. The relatives of Sumon and Rasel 

saw them in the lock-up at Surma Police Station that night and the officer-in-charge asked them to come in the 

morning. When they went to the police station again in the morning, police informed them that no persons with 

these names had been arrested. Later police showed Sumon and Rasel as arrested in a case filed with 

Osmaninagar Police Station under the Special Powers Act, 1974 and produced them before the court.

Bhoralipar

a village 

of 

Tetuljhora 

Union 

under 

Savar 

Upazila in 

Dhaka

On 6 July 2018 at around 11:00 pm, some men claiming to be members of RAB picked up Fajal Huq (60), his 

brother-in-law Rupai Khan Rubel (40) and nephew Munnaf Hossain (35) from Fajal Huq‟s house in Bhoralipara 

village of Tetuljhora Union under Savar Upazila in Dhaka. On 8 August 2018 Fajal Huq‟s wife Renu Begum alleged 

this at a press conference. The day after the incident, the family contacted Nabinagar RAB Camp and Ashulia 

Police Station, but they denied arresting the three. However, Rubel was produced before the court showing him as 

arrested with Yaba pills (drugs) on the same day. Rubel informed Renu Begum that the three of them were 

detained in Nabinagar RAB Camp. Later he was shown as arrested and sent to the court but Fajal Huq and 

Munnaf Hossain were kept in the RAB custody. He said that RAB members asked him not to disclose this matter 

to anyone. Hearing this, the family members of Fajal Huq went to RAB Camp again where RAB member SI Sanjoy 

told them to return after five days. After five days when they visited the RAB Camp, SI Sanjoy did not recognise 

them and refused to help.



25
Md. Hasinur 

Rahman 

Former 

commanding 

officer of 

RAB-7

DOHS in 

Mirpur, 

Dhaka

1 1

On 8 August 2018 at around 10:20 pm, former commanding officer of RAB-7, Lt. Col. Hasinur Rahman was 

forcibly picked up by 10-15 plainclothes men from in front of the house of his sister-in-law at DOHS in Mirpur, 

Dhaka. The men who took him were wearing ‟DB‟ written jackets and were carrying firearms. His family informed 

that some unknown persons had been roaming in front his house for the last three days.  Hasinur Rahman 

predicted that he might be picked up and asked the security guard of his sister-in-law‟s house, Moktar Hosain by 

cell phone to take pictures. Moktar Hossain captured photos of two white coloured microbuses waiting there. For 

this reason, Moktar was caught and put in a microbus. When Hasinur shouted, they picked him up in another 

microbus. Hearing their screams, people of that area approached the microbuses, then the men immediately put 

on „DB‟ written jackets and showed firearms. After reaching a distance, they dropped Moktar in blindfolds after 

taking his cell phone away. Later Hasinur‟s relatives contacted the DB office but they denied the arrest of Hasinur 

Rahman. On 9 August, Hasinur‟s wife Shamima Akhter filed a General Diary with Pallabi Police Station. His 

whereabouts still remain unknown. On 21 February 2020 at night Hasinur Rahman returned home over 16 months 

after he went missing. His wife, Shamima Akhter, confirmed Hasinur's return. Hasinur could not say anything about 

his whereabouts during the time that he had been missing, said Shamima. Ref: 22 Daily Star, 2020. He was 

detained in a secret detention centre "Aynaghor" opertated by DGFI. (Ref: Netra News, 16 August 2022)

1

On 9 August, 

Hasinur‟s wife 

Shamima 

Akhter filed a 

General Diary 

with Pallabi 

Police Station.

He was 

found in 

DGFI  

illegal 

detention 

cell 

Aynaghar

8/8/2018 21/02/20

Information gathered 

by HRDs from victim-

family, Wayas Ahmed 

Asif, brother-in-law of 

Hasinur, cell no- 

01819283729

26
Mahmuda 

Habiba
BNP leader 1 1 1 10/8/2018 11/8/2018

27
Kamal 

Ahmed

A 

businessman 

in the RMG 

sector 

(Mahmuda's 

husband)

1 1 1 10/8/2018 11/8/2018

28
Wasim 

Iftekhar

BNP and 

online activist 

or blogger 

and Admin of 

Zia Cyber 

Force, Zia 

the patriot, 

the Iron lady 

Khaleda 

from a 

house 

situated 

at road 

no. 4 of 

sector no. 

4 of 

Uttara, 

Dhaka

1 1 1 29/08/2018 12/9/2018

The daily Ittefaq, 

02/09/2018, 

http://www.ittefaq.com.

bd/print-edition/second-

edition/2018/09/02/298

274.html

29 Rezaul

Activist of 

BNP and 

Admin of Zia 

Cyber Force, 

Zia the 

patriot, the 

Iron lady 

Khaleda 

Uttara 1 1 1 29/08/2018 12/9/2018

Prothom Alo 

14/9/2018, 

https://epaper.prothom

alo.com/?pagedate=20

18-9-

14&edcode=71&subco

de=71&mod=1&pgnum

=1&type=a

30
Saifullah bin 

Mansur
Student

Mohakhali

, Dhaka
1 1 1

31 Al Amin Student Dhaka 1 1 1

32
Jahirul Islam 

Hasib
Student

Tejkunipar

a, Dhaka
1 1 1

33
Mujahidul 

Islam
Student Dhaka 1 1 1

34
Jahangir 

Alam
Student Dhaka 1 1 1

35

Gazi M 

Borhan 

Uddin

Student Dhaka 1 1 1

36 Tarek Aziz Student Dhaka 1 1 1

Chittagon

g to 

Dhaka 

highway

Mahmuda Habiba's younger brother Asif Abdullah complained to media on 11 August 2018 at noon, that his sister 

Mahmuda Habiba and brother-in-law Kamal Ahmed were picked up. He said that Mahmuda Habiba and her 

husband Kamal Ahmed started their journey by road from Chittagong to Dhaka on 10 August 2018 at around 9:00 

am. Asif Abdullah could communicate with them till 1:30 pm on 10 August. He further added that they came to 

know that at 12:00 am on 11 August, RAB-4 detained Mahmuda Habiba and Kamal Ahmed but did not 

acknowledge it. Then his elder brother went to Uttara Model Police Station but he was not allowed to file any 

written complaint. On 11 August at around 1:15 in the morning, their return was confirmed by BNP media wing 

member Shairul Kabir Khan.

The Asian Age, 

12/8/2018,https://dailya

sianage.com/news/135

243/bnp-leader-

husband-allegedly-

abducted and Bangla 

Tribune, 12/8/2018, 

http://en.banglatribune.

com/others/news/1005

7/BNP-member-

emerges-unscathed-

after-24-hour

In a press note of the political party BNP it is informed that on 29 August 2018 Wasim Iftekhar was allegedly 

arrested by the law enfrocers from a house situated at road no.4 of sector no. 4 of Uttara, Dhaka but later he was 

traceless. However, police denied the allegation. Still his whereabouts are remaining unknown.  On the same day, 

two hours later, Rezaul was allegedly picked up from the same area. They are admin of different webpage. After 

two weeks, both of them shown arrested under a case of Information and Communication Technology Act, 2013 

filed in Jatrabari Police Station.

The family members of the 12 students alleged that the students had been taken into DB custody on 5 September 

2018 from Dhaka city‟s Mohakhali and Tejkunipara. On 9 September 2018 the families had asked the authorities 

to either release their children or produce them before a court if they had committed any crimes. The family 

members also alleged that the detainees were tortured in DB custody, an allegation denied by police. Mansur 

Rahman said his two sons- Saifullah and Sifat were picked up from a student mess on 5 September 2018. Sifat 

was released a day later while Saifullah was in DB custody. Mansur Rahman claimed that his son Saifullah lived in 

Modhupur in Tangail with his family but started staying in Sifat‟s mess in Mohakhali after Eid to attend the training 

sessions of a pharmaceutical company he had recently joined. Mansur also said that Saifullah was in Tangail 

during both movements and he was not involved in any movements. Enamul Haque, father of Jahirul said that his 

son Jahirul was staying in a mess at Tejkunipara and was taking coaching lessons for Dhaka University admission 

tests. Enamul Haque also added that Jahirul was picked up on 5 September. Enamul went to DB offices several 

times in search of Jahirul. From DB office sometimes they said they had him in custody and sometimes they 

denied it. He added that he had not been able to meet his son since he was picked up. Rashed Alam, brother of 

another detainee, Iftekhar, arrived in the city from Noakhali after being informed of his brother‟s detention by 

Iftekhar‟s neighbours. He still does not know for sure how or where his brother is. Rafiqul Islam, father of Raihanul, 

could not hold back his tears when others were demanding a safe return of their sons. The 12 students picked up 

by detectives allegedly six days ago were finally produced before a Dhaka court on 10 September 2018. Two 

cases were filed with Tejgaon Industrial Police Station against them. In one case, all 12 were accused of assaulting 

policemen on 6 August, while one of them, Tarek Aziz, was made the lone accused in another case filed under 

Information and Communication Technology Act on a charge of spreading rumours during the student 

demonstrations for road safety in August. Each of the 12 students were placed on a two-day remand in the police 

assault case while Tarek Aziz was place on a further two-day remand in the ICT case. However, police said that 

they were picked up from Tejkunipara area on 9 September 2018.

5/9/2018 10/9/2018

The Daily Star, 

10/09/2018 and The 

Daily Star, 11/09/2018



37 Mahfuz Student Dhaka 1 1 1

38
Raihanul 

Abedin
Student Dhaka 1 1 1

39 Iftekhar Alam Student Dhaka 1 1 1

40 Tarek Aziz Student Dhaka 1 1 1

41
Mehedi 

Hasan Rajib
Student Dhaka 1 1 1

42

Mahfuzul 

Alam aged 

29

A physician 
Jakiganj, 

Sylhet
1 1

Mahfuzul Alam aged 29,  a physician and son of Abdul Mannan of village Uttar Kaskanakpur in Jakiganj upazila  

allegedly picked up by a team of plainclothes men identified themselves as „DB‟ from Jakiganj in Sylhet on 6 

September 2018. Jakiganj Municipality Unit General Secretary of Awami League Mosleh Uddin Sohel, also an 

uncle of the victim, alleged that a team of some seven people in a microbus identified themselves as members of 

the detective branch of police and picked up Mahfuzul from his house in the village around 10:30pm on 6 

September 2018. Sohel informed that the incident took place several hours after the publishing of the result of the 

39th Bangladesh Civil Service preliminary test on 6 September 2018. Mahfuz had qualified for the post of assistant 

surgeon in the examination. 

Sohel alleged that a person called from unidentified mobile phone number and told him on 7 September 2018 

afternoon that Mahfuz had been detained by the DB police and would be released soon. 'We are waiting for my 

nephew. But he was not released till 7:30pm,' Sohel told, adding that the caller did not explain the reason behind 

detaining Mahfuz.  Sylhet Metropolitan Police deputy commissioner (detective branch in-charge) Faysal Mahmud 

and the district police's detective branch officer-in-charge Mashiur Rahman denied the allegations.  Both officials 

said that such kind of drive was not conducted in Jakiganj area by the respective police. However, on 30 

September 2018 Mahfuzul has been shown arrested in a case filed with Shahjahanpur Police Station of Dhaka 

Metropolitan Police (DMP).

1 6/9/2018 30/09/2018

The daily New Nation, 

9/9/18, 

http://m.thedailynewnati

on.com/news/188011/p

hysician-remains-

missing-after-

plainclothes-police-

pick-him-up and New 

Age, 8/9/18, 

http://www.newagebd.n

et/print/article/50177 

and The Daily Star, 

1/10/18, 

https://www.thedailystar

.net/frontpage/news/co

uncillor-zakiganj-goes-

missing-1641040

43 Shafiul Alam 

Metropolitan 

unit Chhatra 

Shibir 

President 

and intern 

1 1 1

44 Monirul Alam
A private 

service holder
1 1 1

45 Abul Hayat 
A private 

service holder
1 1 1

46 Safiullah

A student of 

Dhaka 

College 

1 1 1

47

Mosharaf 

Hossain 

Maaz

A Class-IX 

student
1 1 1

48

Nur Hossain 

Babu aged 

29

Traded 

garment 

factories' 

leftover 

fabrics in 

Mugda area 

1 1 1

49
Shimul Azad 

aged 26

Traded 

garment 

factories' 

leftover 

fabrics in 

Mugda area 

1 1 1

Shimul Azad‟s wife Nipa Islam said that her husband Shimul along with Shimul‟s brother-in-law Nur Hossain Babu 

and their business partner Shohag went to visit Shimul‟s native village at Gurela village in Moharajpur union in 

Sadar Police Station of Jhenaidah in the morning of 12 September 2018. For an emergency work, they had to start 

at night to come back Dhaka on the same day. Nipa said that on 13 September 2018 at early morning or midnight  

they found everyone‟s cell phone was switched off. Later, they searched for those three and came to know from 

the supervisor of the bus around 15 to 16 men wearing „DB‟ written jacket allegedly picked up them from the bus 

which was near Paturia Ferry Ghat of Manikganj at early morning or midnight on 13 September 2018. Family 

members searched for them at Manikganj DB and RAB office and local police station but all of them denied having 

the three. Later, on 14 September 2018 they received information from Rupganj Police Station of Narayanganj that 

bullet-hit bodies were recovered from Purbachal in Rupganj. Those bodies are identified by the family members. 

Family alleged that Manikganj DB police picked them up.

13/9/2018 14/9/2018

The daily 

Manabzamin, 

15/09/2018, 

http://www.mzamin.co

m/article.php?mzamin=

135656&cat=2/পূব যাচয়ে

-৩-গুরেরবদ্ধ-োশ,--প 

and The Daily Star, 

16/09/2018, 

https://www.thedailystar

.net/backpage/news/m

urder-3-youths-nothing-

known-none-arrested-

1634413

Hazrat 

Shahjalal 

Internation

al Airport 

On 12 September 2018 Shafiul Alam , Monirul Alam, Abul Hayat , Safiullah and Mosharaf Hossain Maaz were 

allegedly picked up by a group of plainclothes men identified themselves as members of Detective Branch (DB) of 

police from Hazrat Shahjalal International Airport and Jatrabari area of Dhaka. Ramisa Khanam, mother of Shafiul 

Alam and Monirul Alam, at a press conference at Crime Reporters Association of Bangladesh in the city‟s 

Segunbagicha on 15 September alleged that she reached the Hazrat Shahjalal International Airport on the 

evening of 12 September after performing Hajj. Her two sons, Shafiul Alam and Monirul Alam, and one of her 

younger son‟s friends Abul Hayat went to the airport to receive her. When they were about to leave the airport 

boarding on a microbus for their village in Tangail around 8:30pm, a group of men in plainclothes pulled out 

Shafiul, Monirul and Hayat from the microbus. She claimed that those men identified themselves as officers of the 

Detective Branch by producing ID cards and firearms. Those men later took away the three men on a microbus. 

Later, those men in plainclothes also went to Mirhazirbagh hostel in Jatrabari, where her two sons were staying, 

along with Shafiul on the same night, and also picked up Safiullah, and Mosharaf Hossain Maaz, roommates of her 

son and left the place. Safiullah was a student of Dhaka College and Mosharaf Hossain Maaz was a Class-IX 

student. Ramisa Khanam said that they have been trying know about their whereabouts by contacting various 

police stations and the DB police but have failed to find any information as law enforcers had denied detaining 

them. The families alleged that police are reluctant to find out their loved ones, and they were even denied to 

register a general diary. On 26 September 2018 they were arrested while holding a secret meeting on night to plan 

destructive activities ahead of the next general election.

12/9/2018 26/09/2018

The daily New Age, 

16/09/2018, 

http://www.newagebd.n

et/article/50697/families

-plead-for-

whereabouts-of-five-

missing-youths and 

The Daily Star, 

27/09/2018, 

https://www.thedailystar

.net/city/news/nobody-

knows-where-they-are-

1639318 and The daily 

Naya Diganta; 

http://www.dailynayadig

anta.com/last-

page/349461/ 

Jugantro, 16 

September 2018; 

https://www.jugantor.co

m/todays-paper/last-

page/90803/

Mirhazirba

gh hostel 

in 

Jatrabari

Paturia 

Ferry 

Ghat of 

Manikganj 

The family members of the 12 students alleged that the students had been taken into DB custody on 5 September 

2018 from Dhaka city‟s Mohakhali and Tejkunipara. On 9 September 2018 the families had asked the authorities 

to either release their children or produce them before a court if they had committed any crimes. The family 

members also alleged that the detainees were tortured in DB custody, an allegation denied by police. Mansur 

Rahman said his two sons- Saifullah and Sifat were picked up from a student mess on 5 September 2018. Sifat 

was released a day later while Saifullah was in DB custody. Mansur Rahman claimed that his son Saifullah lived in 

Modhupur in Tangail with his family but started staying in Sifat‟s mess in Mohakhali after Eid to attend the training 

sessions of a pharmaceutical company he had recently joined. Mansur also said that Saifullah was in Tangail 

during both movements and he was not involved in any movements. Enamul Haque, father of Jahirul said that his 

son Jahirul was staying in a mess at Tejkunipara and was taking coaching lessons for Dhaka University admission 

tests. Enamul Haque also added that Jahirul was picked up on 5 September. Enamul went to DB offices several 

times in search of Jahirul. From DB office sometimes they said they had him in custody and sometimes they 

denied it. He added that he had not been able to meet his son since he was picked up. Rashed Alam, brother of 

another detainee, Iftekhar, arrived in the city from Noakhali after being informed of his brother‟s detention by 

Iftekhar‟s neighbours. He still does not know for sure how or where his brother is. Rafiqul Islam, father of Raihanul, 

could not hold back his tears when others were demanding a safe return of their sons. The 12 students picked up 

by detectives allegedly six days ago were finally produced before a Dhaka court on 10 September 2018. Two 

cases were filed with Tejgaon Industrial Police Station against them. In one case, all 12 were accused of assaulting 

policemen on 6 August, while one of them, Tarek Aziz, was made the lone accused in another case filed under 

Information and Communication Technology Act on a charge of spreading rumours during the student 

demonstrations for road safety in August. Each of the 12 students were placed on a two-day remand in the police 

assault case while Tarek Aziz was place on a further two-day remand in the ICT case. However, police said that 

they were picked up from Tejkunipara area on 9 September 2018.

5/9/2018 10/9/2018

The Daily Star, 

10/09/2018 and The 

Daily Star, 11/09/2018



50

Shohag 

Bhuiyan 

aged 34

A local cable 

TV operator
1 1 1

51

Mashiur 

Rahman 

Rony 

Narayanganj 

district unit 

Jatiyatabadi 

Chhatra Dal 

(student wing 

of BNP) 

President 

Dhaka 1 1

Family members of Mashiur Rahman Rony alleged that plainclothes detectives picked up Rony from Dhaka 

around 10:30 pm on 15 September 2018. Rony‟s younger brother Rana said that on 15 September 2018 at 

around 10:30 pm Rony was picked up from Dhaka. Mojnu Rahman Rana received a phone call from an unknown 

caller at around 10:30 pm who informed that Rony was detained in Dhaka by eight to 10 men identified themselves 

as Detective Branch of police in a black coloured hiace microbus and would be taken to Fatullah Police Station. 

However, Rony‟s phone was switched off since he picked up. It is to be mentioned that earlier on 9 September 

2018, speaking as a special guest at a political programme in Fatullah, Rony criticised both Awami League MP 

Shamim Osman and BNP Secretary General Mirza Fakhrul Islam Alamgir. The next day in a Facebook post he 

again criticised Shamim Osman and advised him to save himself first and then think of BNP. Rony was arrested by 

police along with a firearm and three bullets in Dapa Idrakpur area of Fatulla in Narayanganj and produced before 

Narayanganj senior judicial magistrate Mahmudul Mohsin‟s court on 17 September 2018.

1 15/9/2018 17/9/2018

The Daily Star, 

17/9/2018, 

https://www.thedailystar

.net/backpage/news/na

rayanganj-jcd-

president-goes-

missing-1634848 and 

The daily 

Manabzamin, 

http://www.mzamin.co

m/article.php?mzamin=

135989&cat=3/োিােণ

গঞ্জ-নজো and The 

daily New Age, 

18/9/2018, 

http://www.newagebd.n

et/print/article/50877

52

Sohan 

Sharif aged 

20

A 5th year 

student of 

civil 

engineering 

in Faridpur 

Polytechnic 

Institute

Chokdar 

villa near 

Faridpur 

Polytechni

c Institute 

at Baitul 

Aman 

area, 

Faridpur

1 1

Sohan Sharif's elder brother Shohag Sharif infromed that Sohan used to live in a student hostel (mess) at Chokdar 

villa from where three palinclothes men took him in a black coloured noah microbus on 8 September 2018. They 

also took Sohan's laptop and cell phone with them. Family members alleged that those men appeared as 

members of 'DB'. Shohag also informed that Sohan is not involved with any politics but he used to post Islamic 

status in his facebook account. After his disappearance, family members went to DB and RAB office but could not 

find him. They filed a GD with Kotowali Police Station of Faridpur in this regard. Still his whereabouts are remain 

unknown. Sohan Sharif‟s elder brother Sohag Sharif told that Sohan is currently detained in Kashimpur Central Jail. 

1 8/9/2018

Shohag Sharif, brother 

of Sohan, cell no- 

01552541773, The 

daily Nayadiganta, 

13/09/2018, 

http://www.dailynayadig

anta.com/bangla-

diganta/348561/-রিরব-

প

53
Faisal Alam 

Abul

Vice 

Chairman of 

Sadar 

Upazila 

Parishad of 

Natore 

District and 

Organising 

1 1 1

54 Kamrul Islam

President of 

student wing 

of Natore unit 

BNP

1 1 1

55 Jabul
Activist of 

BNP
1 1 1

56
Choto 

Kamrul

Activist of 

BNP
1 1 1

57 Kajal 
Activist of 

BNP
1 1 1

58 Shamim
Activist of 

BNP
1 1 1

59 Sujon
Activist of 

BNP
1 1 1

60
Majedul 

Mondol (30)

Day labourer 

at agricultural 

field

1 1 1

Vobaniga

nj 

intersectio

n area, 

Natore

On 19 September 2018 a group of plainclothes men allegedly picked up those seven men from Vobaniganj 

intersection area, Natore while they were returning from the court after attending a hearing of a case. Later, police 

denied the arrest of those seven men and they remain traceless. On 21 September 2018 they were produced 

before the court.

19/9/2018 21/9/2018

The daily 

Manabzamin, 

20/09/2018, 

http://www.mzamin.co

m/article.php?mzamin=

136391&cat=9/োয় াি-

সদি-উপয়জো

 

Bagatipar

a, Natore

On 5 October 2018 Majedul Mondol and Liton alias Don were allegedly picked up by a group of plainclothes 

policemen from Bagatipara, Natore. Majedul Mondol‟s father Khoda Box Mondol from Begunia village and 

Majedul‟s elder brother Rezaul Karim said that eight to ten plainclothes men identified themselves as members of 

police picked up Majedul Mondol in a microbus. They informed that the Officer-in-Charge (OC) will talk with Majedul 

Mondol and took him away with handcuff. Majedul Mondol‟s family claimed that there were no cases filed against 

Majedul. Later, they went to Bagatipara Police Station at that night but did not find his whereabouts. At the same 

time, Liton alias Don was also picked up. Majedul Mondol‟s family members tried to file a general diary (GD) but 

police did not record the GD. On 7 October 2018 they filed an application to RAB-5 to know the whereabouts of 

Majedul Mondol. On 8 October 2018 they filed an application to the Superintendent of Police of Natore district to 

know the whereabouts of Majedul Mondol. Till 22 October 2018 both Majedul Mondol and Liton alias Don remain 

unknown. On 21 October 2018 police shown them arrested in a murder case (case no.14) filed in 30 September 

2018 with Bagatipara Police Station from Malanchi Station. Although Majedul‟s family claimed that there were no 

cases filed against him and Majedul was picked up without any arrest warrant on 5 October 2018 and police 

repeatedly denied having him. Majedul Mondol was also allegedly tortured. Both of them were sent to Natore 

District Jail.

Shimul Azad‟s wife Nipa Islam said that her husband Shimul along with Shimul‟s brother-in-law Nur Hossain Babu 

and their business partner Shohag went to visit Shimul‟s native village at Gurela village in Moharajpur union in 

Sadar Police Station of Jhenaidah in the morning of 12 September 2018. For an emergency work, they had to start 

at night to come back Dhaka on the same day. Nipa said that on 13 September 2018 at early morning or midnight  

they found everyone‟s cell phone was switched off. Later, they searched for those three and came to know from 

the supervisor of the bus around 15 to 16 men wearing „DB‟ written jacket allegedly picked up them from the bus 

which was near Paturia Ferry Ghat of Manikganj at early morning or midnight on 13 September 2018. Family 

members searched for them at Manikganj DB and RAB office and local police station but all of them denied having 

the three. Later, on 14 September 2018 they received information from Rupganj Police Station of Narayanganj that 

bullet-hit bodies were recovered from Purbachal in Rupganj. Those bodies are identified by the family members. 

Family alleged that Manikganj DB police picked them up.

13/9/2018 14/9/2018

The daily 

Manabzamin, 

15/09/2018, 

http://www.mzamin.co

m/article.php?mzamin=

135656&cat=2/পূব যাচয়ে

-৩-গুরেরবদ্ধ-োশ,--প 

and The Daily Star, 

16/09/2018, 

https://www.thedailystar

.net/backpage/news/m

urder-3-youths-nothing-

known-none-arrested-

1634413

5/10/2018 21/10/18

Rezaul, elder brother 

of Majedul, cell no: 

01724757228, The 

daily Bangladesh 

Protidin, 20/10/2018, 

http://www.bd-

pratidin.com/country-

village/2018/10/20/369

544 and The daily 

Nayadignata, 

http://www.enayadigant

a.com/news.php?nid=4

42218

Paturia 

Ferry 

Ghat of 

Manikganj 



61
Liton alias 

Don
Not reported 1 1 1

62
SM Robiul 

Islam Nayan

Organising 

Secretary of 

student wing 

of BNP of 

Dhaka 

Metropolitan 

(East)

High 

Court 

Division 

of the 

Supreme 

Court of 

Banglade

sh

1 1

On 11 October 2018 at around 4:15 pm SM Robiul Islam Nayan was allegedly picked up by DB police from the 

High Court division of the Supreme Court of Bangladesh in a microbus with black coloured glass. Robiul was 

returning home from the High Court by a motorcycle while a group of plainclothesmen hit him and he fall from the 

motorcycle. Later, some police at that place came there and those plainclothesmen identified themselves as 

members of DB. Later, DB police allegedly took him away. Later, DB police denied the arrest of Robiul. On 13 

October 2018 Police arrested him from Shahajanpur area of Dhaka city. He was produced before the Chief 

Metropolitan Magistrate Court of Dhaka on 14 October 2018. A case was filed against Robiul with Shahajanpur 

Police Station under Arms Act. Robiul was allegedly tortured.

1 11/10/2018 13/10/2018

The daily Nayadignata, 

12/10/18, 

http://www.dailynayadig

anta.com/city/356327/

ছাত্রদে-নেতা- and The 

daily Prothom Alo, 

14/10/2018, 

https://www.prothomalo

.com/bangladesh/articl

e/1561344/

63
Jahid 

Hasan, 18

Driver of 

Jubo League 

leader 

Isanagar 

of 

Karnaphul

i upazila, 

Chittagon

g

1 1

Jahid Hasan, an eyewitness to an alleged shootout between drug peddlers and Rapid Action Battalion-7 in Chattogram's 

Muradpur area has been missing since 14 October 2018. Jahid Hasan, son of late Md Yasin of Koddartek, Charlakkha union -

- was the driver of Jubo League leader Asim Roy Babu, who was killed in the “shootout” on October 12. Jahid was picked up 

two days after the incident by people in plainclothes from his aunt's home in Isanagar of Karnaphuli upazila. He has been 

missing since then, said family members. They added that after the “shootout”,  Jahid had spoken to several media outlets -- 

Somoy Television, Cplus TV, and a local online television channel of Chattogram -- as a witness. Hosne Ara Begum, Jahid's 

mother, in late February, told, “My son worked as Asim's driver for six months. On the day of the 'shootout', he returned home 

around 3:30am, clearly frightened. Jahid told us about the gunfight, and later heard about the death of Asim from his wife over 

phone.” “We panicked as my son had spoken to the media about how he ran away after the shooting had begun. “On October 

14, I went to my sister's home with my two sons and daughter to attend a programme,” she added. Jahid's elder brother 

Mehedi Hasan Biplob said, “Jahid, my mother and I were sleeping in my aunt's home. We woke to the sound of some men 

speaking outside around 3:30am.” “About 4 to 5 people introducing themselves as our guests asked us to open the door,” 

said Mehedi, a carpenter. When Mehedi asked again for their identity, they said they were “people from the administration”. 

“They kept asking questions about Jahid.” During their verbal altercation, Mehedi's uncle Md Faruk opened the door. All the 

men were in plainclothes. “They immediately grabbed Jahid and his cousin Faisal, and showed firearms strapped to their 

waists to intimidate us.” Mehedi said he remembers seeing them shove Jahid into a black SUV and he got the partial number 

plate, 13-3564. He could not remember the name of the city mentioned on the plate. 

Mehedi said they went to Rab-7 Chandgaon camp the next day to know the whereabouts of Jahid but Rab officials said they 

did not detain anyone. Later, Mehedi went to file a General Diary with Karnaphuli Police Station. “I filed the GD in the morning 

mentioning that Rab men picked up my brother. But in the afternoon, the police gave me a copy of the GD that did not 

mention Rab.” Hosne Ara submitted a written complaint to Rab-7 headquarters on October 28. “I went to Rab-7 headquarters, 

but they did not allow me to even enter or talk to anyone.” 

When asked on February 24, Sub-Inspector Fazle Rabbi Faisal of Karnaphuli Police Station, also the investigation officer of 

the missing person case, said, “We are investigating the matter and have forwarded Jahid's photo to other police stations.” 

When contacted, Rab-7 Commanding Officer Lt Col Miftah Uddin Ahmed said, “Rab is also looking for the driver, as we did 

not find him after the gunfight incident.”

1

A GD was filed 

with Karnaphuli 

Police Station

14/10/2018

The Daily Star, 10 

March 2019, 

https://www.thedailystar

.net/frontpage/news/sh

ootout-witness-

missing-5-months-

1712827

64 Abul Hossain Worker

 Purinda 

area of 

Araihazar 

Upazila of 

Narayang

anj

1 1

On 20 October 2018, the body of Abul Hossain, a resident of Sonargaon Upazila under Narayanganj District, was 

recovered in Tengrartek area in bypass road of Dhaka. On 18 October, he was picked up by police from Purinda 

area of Araihazar Upazila of Narayanganj. Police also took his brother Abdul Kalam into their custody. After being 

detained, Abul Hossain also made a phone call to his family for seven thousand taka from the police custody. 

Later, Abul Hossain‟s body was found and after bargaining with police by the family members of Abul Kalam, on 23 

October, Kalam got released from Rupganj Police Station on the condition of concealing the matter that the police 

had arrested their two brothers.

1 18/10/2018 20/10/2018

The daily Prothom Alo, 

27 October 2018, 

https://epaper.prothom

alo.com/?mod=1&pgnu

m=3&edcode=71&pag

edate=2018-10-27

 

Bagatipar

a, Natore

On 5 October 2018 Majedul Mondol and Liton alias Don were allegedly picked up by a group of plainclothes 

policemen from Bagatipara, Natore. Majedul Mondol‟s father Khoda Box Mondol from Begunia village and 

Majedul‟s elder brother Rezaul Karim said that eight to ten plainclothes men identified themselves as members of 

police picked up Majedul Mondol in a microbus. They informed that the Officer-in-Charge (OC) will talk with Majedul 

Mondol and took him away with handcuff. Majedul Mondol‟s family claimed that there were no cases filed against 

Majedul. Later, they went to Bagatipara Police Station at that night but did not find his whereabouts. At the same 

time, Liton alias Don was also picked up. Majedul Mondol‟s family members tried to file a general diary (GD) but 

police did not record the GD. On 7 October 2018 they filed an application to RAB-5 to know the whereabouts of 

Majedul Mondol. On 8 October 2018 they filed an application to the Superintendent of Police of Natore district to 

know the whereabouts of Majedul Mondol. Till 22 October 2018 both Majedul Mondol and Liton alias Don remain 

unknown. On 21 October 2018 police shown them arrested in a murder case (case no.14) filed in 30 September 

2018 with Bagatipara Police Station from Malanchi Station. Although Majedul‟s family claimed that there were no 

cases filed against him and Majedul was picked up without any arrest warrant on 5 October 2018 and police 

repeatedly denied having him. Majedul Mondol was also allegedly tortured. Both of them were sent to Natore 

District Jail.

5/10/2018 21/10/18

Rezaul, elder brother 

of Majedul, cell no: 
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65
Kamrul 

Hasan

Student of 

fourth 

semester of 

Anthropology 

department 

of Jagannath 

University

Suritola 

High 

School, 

Dhaka

1 1

On 21 October 2018 Kamrul Hasan along with his younger brother headed towards to Passport office at 

Agargaon, Dhaka from their house. After that, a group of plainclothes men identified themselves as DB police 

picked up Kamrul in front of Suritola High School, Dhaka. They said Kamrul‟s younger borther Jahid to meet at the 

head office of DB at Minto road, Dhaka. Later, Jahid went to DB office from there plainclothes DB police also 

picked up Jahid. Both Jahaid and Kamrul were taken to their mess at Bongshal. Those plainclothes men searched 

their house and seized books and laptop. They released Jahid but took away his brother Kamrul. Till then Kamrul‟s 

whereabouts remain unknown.  

1 21/10/2018

The daily Nayadiganta 

24/10/2018, 

http://www.enayadigant

a.com/news.php?nid=4

42218

66

Faruq 

Hossain 

aged 40

Bus driver of 

Glory 

Paribahan at 

Bhulta-

Dhaka route

1 1 1

67

 Sabuj 

Sarder aged 

17

Worked at 

Bakery
1 1 1

68
Jahirul Islam 

aged 19

Worked at 

Bakery
1 1 1

69 Liton
Worked at 

Bakery
1 1 1

70
Sharif 

Ahmed, 32

Alleged 

criminal

in front of 

Palika 

Shopping 

Centre in 

Station 

Road 

area, 

Mymensin

gh

1 1

Sharif's mother Shirin Akhter said Sharif went out with some friends after Juma prayers on 12 October afternoon. 

“We had lunch together… I didn't know it would be for the last time…,” she wailed. The 55-year-old mother 

regained her composure and added, “My son was never involved in drug business.” “In the evening, locals 

informed that some people in plainclothes picked him up in a black microbus in front of Palika Shopping Centre in 

Station Road area,” she said. Sharmin Akhter, his elder sister, said they went to Kotwali Police Station and DB 

office right away to find his whereabouts. “We went there multiple times on 12 October night and 13 October. My 

mother filed a missing persons complaint with Kotwali Police Station on 13 October noon,” she added. “In the 

morning [14 October], a relative informed us that a youth was killed in so-called gunfight with police,” she said. “We 

went to the morgue and found out that it was Sharif.” Shirin said Sharif had a wife and two underage daughters. 

“Their future is uncertain now,” she said. Sharif used to co-run a dry goods business with his elder brother. He was 

never involved in drug business, said family members, adding that he used to take cannabis occasionally. They 

demanded proper investigation into the killing. When asked, OC Shah Kamal Akanda of the Detective Branch 

denied any incident of Sharif being “picked up”. He also said no such missing complaint was filed. OC Mahmudul 

Islam of Kotwali Police Station echoed him.

1 12/10/2018 14/10/2018

The Daily Star 

15/10/2018, 

https://www.thedailystar

.net/country/news/drug-

peddler-killed-

mymensingh-gunfight-

bangladesh-1646797

71 Abu Bakar
Alleged 

criminal

RN Road 

in 

Jashore 

town 

1 1

Abu Bakar‟s wife Safia Begum alleged that Abu Bakar was picked up by plainclothes policemen from RN Road in 

Jashore town as he came there to buy motor parts on 16 October 2018. The police denied the allegation. Officer in-

charge of Benapole port police station Masud Karim said that being informed by locals, police recovered Abu 

Bakar‟s bullet hit body form a field at around 7:30am on 20 October 2018.

1 16/10/2018 20/10/2018

The daily New Age, 

21/10/2018, 

http://www.newagebd.n

et/article/53707/two-

more-drug-peddlers-

killed-in-gunfights

72
Billu Parvez 

aged 28 

Alleged 

criminal

Sonagand

a in 

Khulna 

town

1 1

Victim‟s family alleged that Billu Parvez aged 28 was picked up from Sonaganda in Khulna town on 17 October 

2018 night by some policemen in plainclothes. However, police denied the allegation. Kotwali police officer-in-

charge Apurba Hasan said that the police recovered the bullet-hit body of Billu after a gunfight between two groups 

of miscreants around 3:45am on 19 October 2018.
1 17/10/2018 19/10/2018

The daily New Age, 

21/10/2018, 

http://www.newagebd.n

et/article/53611/miscre

ant-killed-in-gunfight-in-

jashore
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Shafiqur 

Rahman 

Badal, 45

President of 

Kayetpara 

union Jubo 

League

1 1 1

Purinda 

area, 

Araihazar 

upazila, 

Narayang

anj, 

Dhaka

In the morning of 21 October 2018, local residents of the Satgram Union under Araihazar Upazila in Narayanganj 

District informed the police that four bodies were lying on two sides of the Dhaka-Sylhet highway. On this day, the 

body of a driver named Lutfar Rahman Mollah (37) was identified by his wife Reshma Akter. Reshma Akter said 

that her residence was at Wapda Road of Rampura in Dhaka and her husband was a professional microbus 

driver. On 19 October, after leaving home with a „trip‟, her mobile phone was getting off. She lodged a General 

Dairy (GD) in the police station in this regard. The deceased families came to Narayanganj General Hospital 

morgue on 22 October and recognised the bodies of the remaining three persons. They were – Faruq Hossain 

(40), Sabuj Sardar (17) and Jahirul Islam (19) – permanent residents of Pabna district, but currently staying at 

Purinda area under Araihazar Upazila in Narayanganj. After the autopsy, Residential Medical Officer (RMO) of 

Narayanganj General Hospital Asaduzzaman said that four people were shot dead from behind. Three of them 

were shot in the head with shotgun. The types of bullets on each head were found to be similar. Additional 

Superintendent of Police (Crime) of Narayanganj District, Abdullah Al Mamun said, initially they thought that four 

men were killed in a dispute with robbers or criminals. But Taslima Begum, wife of Faruk Hossain, said that her 

husband used to run buses on Bhutta-Dhaka route. On October 19, some armed men wearing shirts pants, picked 

up Faruk from their house in Purinda area of Araihazar upazila of Narayanganj, three of their village namely Sabuj 

Sarder, Jahirul Islam and Liton. On 20 October, she went to Bhulta Police Camp and gave them food. At that time 

Faruq told her that police tortured him a lot. However, the following day, on 21 October, she came to know that four 

bodies, including his husband, were lying beside the highway. Of them, Liton‟s dead body was not there and she 

did not know Lutfar Rahman Mollah whose body was found. Liton‟s brother Ripon said that they heard that Liton 

was taken away. On the same day, the Highway police from Rupganj Police Station area recovered the body of an 

unidentified person and they had heard that police buried him as unclaimed; they thought it could be Liton‟s dead 

body.

19/10/2018 21/10/2018

21.10.18 Daily Star; 
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Rupganj, 

Narayang

anj

Three of them alleged that a group of plainclothes men with arms identified themselves as members of law 

enforcement agency picked up them from Rupganj area of Narayanganj on 24 October 2018. The incident 

happened when the trio was heading for Paragao from Boralubazar area on a motorcycle around 4:00pm on 24 

October 2018. They were taken away in a microbus. After 16 hours, three of them were freed on 25 October 2018. 

Of the three, Badal was left in Ashulia of Savar upazila while Shakil Mia and Shakil Ahmed were left in Rajendrapur 

of Gazipur district. Shafiqur Rahman Badal was allegedly tortured in the microbus that he had to admit in a hospital. 

24/10/2018 25/10/2018

The Daily Star, 

26/10/18, 
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74 Shakil Mia
Activist of 

Jubo League
1 1 1

75
Shakil 

Ahmed

A Chhatra 

League 

activist

1 1 1

76

Humayun 

Kabir alias 

Julvern

Blogger and 

engaged in 

business of 

surgical 

instrument

PS Turn 

Launch, 

Sadarghat

, Dhaka 

1 1

On 27 October 2018 at around 3:00 pm Humayun Kabir alias Julvern went out from his house at Dhaka to go 

Pirojpur district regarding a land related issue. He reserved a seat at cabin no.7 at PS Launch but he changed it 

and shifted in a double cabin. The launch was about to start on 7:00 pm. Humayun‟s wife Mousumi Kabir called 

him on 8:00 pm but found the phone switched off. Later, the family members came to know from the cabin boy that 

before departing the launch two men identified themselves as DB police took him away. In this regard, the family 

members filed a general diary with Sher-e-Banglanagar Police Station on 27 October 2018 night. The GD is 

numbered as 1982. Nine days later on 6 November 2018  police shown him arrested under Digital Security Act 

2018 iin Mirpur Police Station. On 7 November 2018 the Chief Metropolitan Magistrate Court of Dhaka granted four 

days of police remand.

1

 In this regard, 

the family 

members filed 

a general diary 

with Sher-e-

Banglanagar 

Police Station 

on 27 October 

2018 night. The 

GD is 

numbered as 

1982. 

27/10/2018 6/11/2018
Kaler Kantha, 

31/10/2018

77 Tuhin Sarkar

retired 

employee of 

BADC

1 1 1

78
Nasrin Akter 

Rumi
1 1 1

79
Shariful 

Islam Biplob

Student of 

Rajshahi Law 

College

Hoseniga

nj, 

Rajshahi

1 1

Shapla, sister of victim Biplob, said that in the evening of 2 November 2018 her brother went out of the hostel and 

sitting on the nearby street. At that time some plainclothes men identified themselves as DB Police and forcibly 

took Biplob in a white microbus. Since then, he has not been found anymore. His family searched in all the offices 

of the law enforcing agencies but not found. Finally, his family could file a GD on 4 November 2018 with Boalia 

Police Station regarding this incident.

1 2/11/2018

The daily Jugantor 

7/11/2018, 

https://www.jugantor.co

m/todays-

paper/news/109148

80
Shaon 

Hossain (26)

DSR of Robi 

Telecom Ltd. 

East 

Mandail, 

Keranigan

j, Dhaka

1 1

A youth named Shaon Hossain (26) was allegedly picked up by DB Police in Keraniganj on 12 November 2018 at 

around 1:00am. His wife Khadija told that some people identified as 'DB police' came to  their rental house at East 

Mandail, Keraniganj and picked up Shaon. However, the officer of Keraniganj Model Police Station, Shakir 

Mohammad Jobayer, said they did not know anything about this. Shaon's wife Khadija Akhter filed a complaint with 

the Model Police Station on the next day. Khadija Begum said that her husband has been working as a DSR of a 

mobile phone company named Robi.

1 12/11/2018

The daily Jugantor 

13/11/2018, 

https://www.jugantor.co

m/todays-

paper/second-

edition/111285

81

Mohammad 

Shafayat 

Hossain

Student of 

State 

University, 

Laksam, 

Comilla

Laksam, 

Comilla
1 1

It has known that, after the Friday prayers, on November 9, Shafayet left the house for Dhaka from Bamanda 

village under Mudafarganj union of Laksham. Since then, his communication with the family was disconnected. In 

the meantime, he has told his elder brother over phone that the RAB had arrested him. When her parents 

contacted the Comilla RAB office, they denied the arrest. Safayat has not been taken to the court and RAB have 

not accepted the arrest. His father said that they have come to know that Shafayat has been kept at Comilla RAB 

office. In this situation, he urged the concerned authority to find his son. Mohammad Shafayat Hossain has 

returned but neither Shafayat nor his family members want to talk. 

1 9/11/2018

The daily Nayadiganta 

13/11/2018, 

http://www.dailynayadig

anta.com/city/364198

82

Jahurul 

Islam 

Badsha

Principle of 

Red Rose 

KG School 

and 

President of 

Jamaat-e-

Islami, 

Kahalu 

Municipality

Kahalu, 

Bogra
1 1

Family members of Jamaat leader and school teacher Jahurul Islam Badsha  is not getting any whereabouts after 

his arrest by DB police from Kahalu, Bogra. It has known that Badshah is working as principle of a school and the 

president of Kahalu municipality Jamaat-e-Islami. Abdur Rashid, father of Badsha told that his son was arrested on 

13 November 2018 at 11:00am by some plain-clothed DB police men from his son's school. Later, DB police 

denied the arrested when contacted. Rashid said his son was on bail despite a case against him. Meanwhile, his 

family has become worried about Badsha's disappearance.  On 15 November 2018 Badsha was shown arrested 

by Nandigram Police Station and submitted to the court. 

1 13/11/2018 15/11/2018

The daily Nayadiganta 

14/11/2018, 

http://www.dailynayadig

anta.com/rajshahi/3647

21

Moddherc

har 

village, 

Melandah

a, 

Jamalpur

Tuhin Sarkar's father Mofiz Uddin Sarkar, retired employee of BADC, said that in the afternoon of 4 November 

2018 some plainclothes men and women identified themselves as the members of the law enforcing agency, took 

his son and daughter-in-law away. At that time, two pickup vans of police were kept on the streets. He asked the 

members of the law enforcing agency why his family members were being taken away, but they did not respond. 

When he informed Melandh police regarding picking up of Tuhin and his pregnant wife, but the police said that 

they did not know anything. Denying the presence of the police, Officer-in-Charge of Melandh Police Station, Gazi 

Sakhawat Hossain said that he did not know about taken Tuhin and his wife away by members of law enforcement 

agency. They were later sent to Bagura District jail through the court. Rumi was released at the end of the month 

of February 2019 and Tuhin was freed in the month of April 2019 after being bailed from the High Court.

4/11/2018

The daily Bangladesh 

Pratidin 6/11/2018, 

http://www.bd-

pratidin.com/news/201

8/11/06/373845

Rupganj, 

Narayang

anj

Three of them alleged that a group of plainclothes men with arms identified themselves as members of law 

enforcement agency picked up them from Rupganj area of Narayanganj on 24 October 2018. The incident 

happened when the trio was heading for Paragao from Boralubazar area on a motorcycle around 4:00pm on 24 

October 2018. They were taken away in a microbus. After 16 hours, three of them were freed on 25 October 2018. 

Of the three, Badal was left in Ashulia of Savar upazila while Shakil Mia and Shakil Ahmed were left in Rajendrapur 

of Gazipur district. Shafiqur Rahman Badal was allegedly tortured in the microbus that he had to admit in a hospital. 

24/10/2018 25/10/2018
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83

Omar 

Faruque 

Mohammad 

Enamul

Managing 

Director of a 

Security 

service 

company

Bashabo 

Tempoo 

stand, 

Sabujbag, 

 Dhaka

1 1

There was allegation of picking up a businessman named Omar Faruque Mohammad Enamul by Detective 

Branch of Police (DB) from Sabujbag. In the afternoon of 14 November 2018, some plain-clothed men picked him 

up from the Basabo Tempo stand in Sabujbagh Police Station. Victim's familly alleged that the plain-clothed men 

identified themselves as the members of DB police to the nearby people. Enamul's younger brother Naim Islam 

said that his brother Enamul was the managing director of a security service company. He informed the matter to 

the Sabujbagh Police Station. However, the OC of the police station said he did not know about the arrest of 

Enamul. Later, Naim Islam contacted detective branch's office at Minto Road, Dhaka and they told him that no one 

named Enamul was brought to the detective branch's office. DB Police will contact the family if someone is brought.

1 14/11/2018

The daily Ittefaq, 

18/11/2018, 

http://www.ittefaq.com.

bd/print-

edition/city/2705

84
Shohag 

Bhuiyan

General 

Secretary of 

student wing 

of BNP 

(Chhatrodal)

Shahjaha

npur, 

Dhaka

1 1

Selina Akhter alleged that on 16 November 2018 at around 2:00 am, DB Police went to her father-in-law's house in 

Comilla. The police intimidated Selina Akhter to tell them the whereabouts of her brother Shohag Bhuiyan. But 

when she said that she did not know where he is. After saying that, they threatened her and said that if she did not 

tell the whereabouts of Shohag, then Selina, her child, her parents and mother-in-law, father-in-law would be 

imprisoned for seven years. Later, Selina was taken to Nangalokot Police Station on that night.  Then they asked 

her a lot of questions and brought her to Dhaka by their car. Then in the morning, she gave them her brother's 

location at the house of a relative in Shanir Akhara, Dhaka. Since then, her brother's whereabouts remained 

unknown. Shohag's family told that they looked for him at the police station, DB office everywhere but could not 

find Sohag anywhere. DB (East) Deputy Commissioner Khandaker Nurunnabi yesterday said that he has no 

information about the arrest of Sohag. He does not know anything. Later he was shown arrested on 19 November 

2018.

1 11/11/2018 16/11/2018

The daily 

Manabzamin, 

20/11/2018, 
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m/article.php?mzamin=
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arrested-remanded
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Barrister 

Zubair 

Ahmed 

Bhuiyan

Advocate 

and former 

Islami 

Chhatra 

Shibir activist

Karwan 

Bazar, 

Dhaka

1 1

Barrister Zubair Ahmed Bhuiyan, the Supreme Court lawyer, has disappeared from Kawran Bazar area of Dhaka. 

Before his disappearance on 29 November 2018, his last position was located at the Kawran Bazar area. His sister 

Ferdousi Begum alleged that at around 1:30 pm on 29 November , a group of plain-clothes men  identified 

themselves as the members of DB police picked up Barrister Jubayer.  Ferdousi Begum expressed her concern 

and said that police or DB police have not yet acknowledged the detention of Barrister Zubair. As a result, her 

family is very worried and upset. Shahdat Hossain, Assistant Commissioner of Dhaka Detective Branch (DB) told  

that DB did not arrest them. But they were looking for Barrister Zubair and one of his associate. Later on 2 

December 2018, Police showed him arrested .

1 29/11/2018 2/12/2018

The daily 

Manabzamin, 

01/12/2018, 

http://www.mzamin.co
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Khandakar 

Ruhul Amin; 

0130928833

1

Secretary of 

Jamaat-e-

Islami of 

HatirJheel 

Police 

Station (East)

Paltan, 

Dhaka
1 1

There have an allegation of picking up a leader of Jamaat-e-Islami named Khandakar Ruhul Amin by the DB 

police from Paltan area in the capital. He is the secretary of Hatir Jheel Police Station. He was taken from his  work 

place at Paltan around 4:00 pm on 29 November 2018. On behalf of Ruhul Amin's family, his wife Tahmina Akhter 

Surma, in a written statement sent to the media said that  they searched Ruhul Amin at the DB office, Paltan, 

Ramna and Hatirjheel Police Station, but the police refused the detention of her husband. She claimed that her 

husband was not involved in any criminal gang. Her husband was picked up unfairly. She urged to return Ruhul 

Amin to his family  immediately. On 3 December 2018 he was produced before the Chief Metropolitan Magistrate 

Court in Dhaka under vandalisation case filed with the Ramna Police Station.

1 29/11/2018

The daily Bangladesh 

Pratidin, 01/12/2018, 

http://www.bd-

pratidin.com/city/2018/

12/01/380178; 
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Mohammad 

Rabiul Awal 

Shohag

Online activist

Dhulipara, 

 

Choumuh

uni, 2nd 

Muradpur, 

 Kotowali, 

Comilla

1 1

On 26 November 2018, an online activist Mohammad Rabiul Awal Shohagh (25) was allegedly picked up by some 

men claiming to be members of the Detective Branch (DB) of police from his house at Dhulipara under 

Choumuhomi Upazila in Comilla district. Since then his whereabouts remain unknown. His wife Khadiza Akhtar 

said at a press conference on 6 December, that at around 11:00 pm on 26 November, members of the law 

enforcement agency came to their house with her husband. Later some men identifying them as DB Police 

entered the house and took away a laptop, computer and other important items with her husband. After the 

incident the family of Rabiul filed a General Diary with Comilla Sadar (South) Police Station. The family contacted 

Comilla Police Station, RAB Headquarters and the DB Police office in Dhaka. They all denied the arrest of her 

husband. 

1 26/11/2018

Jugantor, 6/12/2018, 

https://www.jugantor.co

m/national/119274; 

Press conference 

6/12/2018; Khadija 

Akter, Cell- 

01759063758



88 Saifur Rahman

Majidpur 

Union 

Parishad 

(UP) member 

DB 

Office, 

Dhaka

1 1

Majidpur Union Parishad (UP) member Saifur Rahman of Keshabpur upazila of Jessore has been disappeared in 

Dhaka. His family and colleagues alleged that he came to Dhaka when a DB police officer called him and 

pressurized him to come to Dhaka. Then, he informed the matter to the acting chairman of Majidpur Union 

Parishad Abdur Rahman and other members. The chairman sent another Union Parishad member Abdul Latif 

Gazi along with Saifur to go to Dhaka. Abdul Latif Gazi said that they went to Dhaka on November 27 and reached 

DB office at around 11pm. Then, Saifur talk over phone with the officer who contacted him before. DB office told 

them to wait at the DB gate. Accordingly, they waited at the DB office's main gate. After a while, a man came in 

and asked Saifur to come. Latif Gazi said, along with two other people, he was waiting there. Later they were 

asked to wait on the other side of the road and wait. Abdul Latif said that few hours later he went to the gate and 

asked about Saifur. But the gatemen told them that they did not know anything about what‟s happening inside.  

After evening, he returned and could not do further contact. Saiful's brother Hafizur Rahman said that Saifur was 

involved in BNP politics with Abu Bakar. His age is approximately 35 years. He is unmarried. Majidpur UP Acting 

Chairman Abdur Rahman said that he tried to contact Saifur in various ways but could not. However recently, the 

three masons who were released from DB's custody told him that they saw Saifur there. Knowing that they are 

going out, Saifur gave them some phone numbers and asks them to contact. When asked about Saifur, DMP 

Public Relations and Media Division Deputy Commissioner Masudur Rahman said on 5 December 2018 that the 

case is not being investigated by DB; South Keraniganj thana was investigating. Officer-in-Charge of South 

Keraniganj Thana Shah Zaman said, "I do not know whether DB has called anyone."  On 8 December 2018, Saifur 

Rahman was shown arrested in a vandalism case and submitted to a court in Dhaka. 


1 27/11/2018 8/12/2018

The daily Prothom Alo, 

6/12/ 2018, 

https://www.prothomalo

.com/bangladesh/articl

e/1568614                       

   Muhibullah, victim's 

cousin, Cell- 

01762938179
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Mollah 

Ruhul Amin

Accused in a 

case

House 

no. 6, 

Road no. 

9, Gas 

Road, Zia 

Soroni,  

Shonir 

Akhra, 

Dhaka

1 1

In the afternoon of 28 November 2018, a group of people identified themselves as DB police picked up Ruhul 

Amin from the house number 6, Road number 9 of Gas Road, Zia Sarani on Shonir Akhra.Mollah Ruhul Amin's 

wife, Raonak Jahan, in a written complaint, said that after taking her husband by DB police, she went to 

theKadamtali police station to file a GD. But the duty officer of the police station did not accept the GD and asked 

her to contact the DB office. But they denied the arrest of her husband when contacted.Raonak Jahan said, at 

around 10pm on that night, Ruhul Amin called her mobile phone and said that he was kept in the DB office and he 

was arrested in a case filed with Sabujbagh Police Station. Numbered - 46, date 26-11-18. Besides, her husband 

said, try to please the DB officer SI Saiful and his boss Kaiser. So that he will not taken to remand. Since then, 

Raonak did not contact her husband's the mobile phone. 

Raonak Jahan also said that she went to the Sabujbagh Police Station after talking with her husband over mobile 

phone and collected the case documents. But in the last four days her husband was not produced before the 

court. So that, she and her family became very worried. 

1 28/11/2018

The daily Nayadiganta, 

3/12/2018, 

http://m.dailynayadigan

ta.com/detail/news/369
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90
Abdul Ahad 

Khan Jamal

Sylhet district 

BNP 

organizing 

secretary 

and former 

student 

leader

Jindabaza

r, Sylhet
1 1

Abdul Ahad was taken away from Jindabazar point area of ​​the city at around 11:30 pm on 25 December 2018. 

Victim's family members said that Abdul Ahad Khan was returning after finishing dinner with his party workers in a 

restaurant at Zindabazar. At that time, plainclothes police members picked him up.  Later, he was shown arrested 

in a case and got bail from the court on 3 January 2019. 

1 25/12/18 3/1/2019

The daily Jugantor, 

26/12/2018; 

https://www.jugantor.co

m/politics/126417; 

04/01/2019 Surma 
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Mahmudul 

Hasan

Master's 

Student of 

Dhaka 

College

1 1 1

92
Abdul Kadir 

Jilani

Master's 

Student of 

Titumir 

College

1 1 1

93

Abu Khaled 

Mohammad 

Javed (25)

3rd year 

student of 

Bangla 

department 

of Asian 

University

1 1 1

Farmgate 

area, 

Dhaka

Yasin Karim, brother in law of Abu Khaled Mohammad Javed told in a press conference that on 29 December 

(Saturday) from Shahjalpur Aziz Super Market, Abu Khaled Mohammad Javed, third year student of Bangla 

Department of Asian University, Borhan Uddin of the English Department of Stamford University, Rezaul Khalek, 

the last year of Manarat University and Syed Mominul Hassan, former student of Govt. Unani & Ayurvedic Medical 

College, were on the way to home by bus. The plainclothes police stopped the bus at Farmgate and detained 

them. One of the friends of the disappeared four was in the bus and informed the respective families. Then the 

families went to the nearby police stations including Tejgaon police station and also contacted other law 

enforcement agencies. But they denied the arrest of those four youth. The victim families also told that after 

passing two days of their detention, they have not appeared in the court according to the law - which is a serious 

matter of concern. They are afraid of their children. The guardians said, we have learned from reliable sources that 

our children are in police custody. After five days of their disappearance, the youths were submitted to the court 

after showing arrested in vandalism cases. 

29/12/18 2/1/2019

The daily Jugantor, 

02/01/2019; 

https://www.jugantor.co

m/todays-

paper/news/128685;  

The daily Prothom Alo, 

3 January 2019

Mouchak 

Market, 

Dhaka

Police arrested Mahmudul Hassan, a master's student of Dhaka College and Abdul Kadir Jilani, a master's student 

at Titumir College from in front of Mouchak Market in the capital on 27 December 2018, with their motorcycle. After 

the arrest, their relatives met with members of law enforcement agencies. But no one is giving any whereabouts of 

them. Mahmudul's mother said that her son was arrested without any reason. After the arrest, they contacted law 

enforcement agencies repeatedly  but they are not giving any whereabouts of her son. Abdul Kadir Jilani's mother 

said that my son was not involved in any wrongdoing. But Police arrested him without any reason. But after being 

arrested, they are in deep trouble and anxiety. If the law enforcers do such illegal acts then where will the ordinary 

people go?

27/12/18

The daily Nayadiganta, 

28/12/2018; 

www.dailynayadiganta.

com/city/375939
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Borhan 

Uddin (26)

Student of 

English 

department 

of Stamford 

University

1 1 1

95
Rezaul 

Khalek (24)

Final year 

student of 

Pharmacy 

department 

of Manarat 

University

1 1 1
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Sayed 

Mominul 

Hasan (27)

Former 

student of 

Govt. Unani 

& Ayurvedic 

Medical 

College

1 1 1
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Iqbal 

Chowdhury
Businessman

From his 

home  

Swapnonir 

 Housing, 

Mohamm

adpur , 

Dhaka

1 1
He was picked up allegedly by DB police and kept in DGFI  illegal custody named Aynaghar. He was released on 

15 April 2019
1 7.05.18 25.04.19

 The victim himself, 

Writ petition,  GD

98
Rasheduzza

man Labu

Activist of 

Jamaat-e-

Islami, 

Badda 

(East), Dhaka

Kafrul, 

Dhaka
1 1

Leader of Jamaat-e-Islami of Badda (east) of Dhaka Metropolitan, Mohammad Kutub Uddin told in a press 

statement that as the continuation of persecution of the government, the law enforcers took away the Jamaat 

activist Rasheduzzaman Labu of Badda thana from Kafrul in the capital on December 16. After the detention of a 

person, there is a legal obligation to be handed over to the court within 24 hours, but he has not yet been handed 

over to the court even after a long time has passed. Even his family do not know where and in what condition he is 

now. As a result, his family members and relatives are in endless anxiety. Kutub Uddin  demanded Labu's 

unconditional release immediately. On 9 August 2020, Rasheduzzaman Labu told that after he was arrested, the 

Detective Branch of ploce detained him for 21 days. He was then produced before the court in a case under the 

Explosives Act. He was freed on bail after 6 months.

1 16/12/18

The daily Nayadiganta, 

05/01/2019; 

http://www.dailynayadig

anta.com/more-

news/378106

99
Muhammad 

Shahbuddin 

Tax lawyer of 

Shahid Uddin 

Khan

Dhaka 1 1

Law enforcement personnel, detain Johirul Haque Khandaker on January 13, 2019 along with two other 

colleagues, Korshed Alam Patwari, and Sayed Akidul Ali in Dhaka, all were employed by Shahid Uddin Khan, a 

retired Bangladesh colonel. Shahid Uddin Khan, has accused his former business associate, Major General 

Tarique Ahmed Siddique, Prime Minister Sheikh Hasina's security adviser, of ordering the detentions as part of a 

campaign of intimidation against him. However, Shahid Uddin Khan's relationship with Siddique soured when he 

was instructed by the prime minister's adviser to close down the company. According to Khan, on April 4, 2018, 

the day after the company was shut, Siddique began to exert pressure on him. Military officers from the DGfFI, the 

army's intelligence wing, raided Khan's office and took dozens of boxes of the company's documents to Siddique's 

house. Four staffs were allegedly driven to DGFI headquarters where they were held, blindfolded, and interrogated 

about Khan's financial affairs. They were all released after 48 hours. Six weeks later, Khan's tax lawyer 

Muhammad Shahbuddin was picked up by government authorities. "Two persons came out from a car and 

forcefully took our father away from us and forced him inside the SUV," the lawyer's son wrote in a complaint to the 

police.

1 5/1/2018

22/11/2019 Al 

Jazeera; 

https://www.aljazeera.c

om/news/2019/11/empl

oyee-uk-based-

bangladeshi-
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Farmgate 

area, 

Dhaka

Yasin Karim, brother in law of Abu Khaled Mohammad Javed told in a press conference that on 29 December 

(Saturday) from Shahjalpur Aziz Super Market, Abu Khaled Mohammad Javed, third year student of Bangla 

Department of Asian University, Borhan Uddin of the English Department of Stamford University, Rezaul Khalek, 

the last year of Manarat University and Syed Mominul Hassan, former student of Govt. Unani & Ayurvedic Medical 

College, were on the way to home by bus. The plainclothes police stopped the bus at Farmgate and detained 

them. One of the friends of the disappeared four was in the bus and informed the respective families. Then the 

families went to the nearby police stations including Tejgaon police station and also contacted other law 

enforcement agencies. But they denied the arrest of those four youth. The victim families also told that after 

passing two days of their detention, they have not appeared in the court according to the law - which is a serious 

matter of concern. They are afraid of their children. The guardians said, we have learned from reliable sources that 

our children are in police custody. After five days of their disappearance, the youths were submitted to the court 

after showing arrested in vandalism cases. 

29/12/18 2/1/2019

The daily Jugantor, 

02/01/2019; 

https://www.jugantor.co

m/todays-

paper/news/128685;  

The daily Prothom Alo, 

3 January 2019


